Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0230

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 24-0230

LISA COLE *Appellant*,

v.

IN RE; THE ESTATE OF M.A.C. A Deceased Minor Appellee.

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court
Cause No. DP-20-137C
Hon. John Brown, Presiding

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

APPEARANCES:

Christopher W. Froines FROINES LAW OFFICE, PC Century Plaza Building 3819 Stephens Avenue, Suite 301 Missoula, MT 59801

Tel: 406-829-3303 Fax: 877-688-4696

chris@froineslawoffice.com
Counsel for Appellants

Danielle Shyne
Shyne Law Group, PLLC
Millennium Building
PO Box 973
Bozeman, MT 59771
Tel: (406) 581-5479

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Could Cole's parental rights even be terminated without the State initiating a child-welfare action?
- 2. Did the District Court err when it appointed Sunny Yocom Personal

 Representative of the Estate and again in denying Lisa Cole's Motion to

 Remove Sunny Yocom for Cause based on her conflict of interest?
- 3. Were the District Court's Findings of Facts clearly erroneous due to the District Court's misapprehending the effect of the evidence and the lack of credible and admissible evidence supporting them?
- 4. Did the District Court err in admitting hearsay evidence, and then incorrectly relying on the hearsay in its Findings and Conclusions?
- 5. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in denying Lisa Cole's request to appear remotely from her home in Arkansas at the May 23, 2023, evidentiary hearing without explanation, while granting all the other requests for remote appearance?
- 6. Was the lack of verification on pleadings submitted by both parties simply a harmless error?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September of 2019 Mykhia Cole (11 years old) was living with her mother Lisa Cole (herein after Cole) in Colorado. Cole became sick with endometriosis

which required medical treatment, including a hysterectomy. The decision was made for Cole's son Phoenix to transport Mykhia to her 25-year-old sister Samara's house in Bozeman, while Cole was in the hospital, and during her recovery. The decision was made between Cole and Samara based on would be in Mykhia's best interest. (Hearing Trans. Pg 143:21) Following the move Mykhia was enrolled in elementary school in Bozeman. Libby Hansen, the school counselor documented in her notes that during this time Mykia often spoke with her mother on the phone, and missed her mother during the time Mykhia was staying with her sister. (Ex. 1 Pg. 134)

By November, Cole had recovered from her surgery and had moved back to Montana. She asked Samara to send Mykhia back to her, but Samara would not tell Cole where she was living. Cole called DPHHS asking for help in being reunited with her daughter on November 5, 2019 (Ex. 3 Pg. 1), twice on December 31, 2019 (Ex. 3 Pgs. 11,19, 29, 58,) and on February 3, 2020 (Ex. 3 Pg. 60) always requesting help with being re-united with her daughter Mykhia.

Before she could be reunited with her mother Mykhia Cole and her sister Samara Yanny died in an automobile accident where Samara was the driver, on March 13, 2020. Their brother, Mythias Cole was also severely injured and spent the next 4-6 weeks in the hospital in Salt Lake City. (Pg. 150 Ln. 1-9) Cole stayed with her son Mythias every day he was in Salt Lake City hospital. When Mythias

Cole was released from the hospital, he went to live with Cole at her home in Miles City, Montana. (Pg. 159:10-25).

On June 1, 2020, only two months after Cole had lost her two daughters in the car accident, Shawn Cosgrove, a Billings attorney representing Bristol West Insurance Co. approached Cole at her home in Miles City about opening a probate to receive liability insurance proceeds in the amount of \$100,000 for Mykhia's Estate. After Cosgrove left Cole's home that day, he never attempted to contact Cole again. (*See* Cosgrove Affid., Ex. 10 Pg. 2 ¶8 & 10.)¹

Cosgrove represented a debtor to the Estate (Bristol West) and had no legal standing to open a probate for Mykhia's Estate. Cosgrove chose to seek out a third-party to act as personal representative and open the probate himself, without giving Cole notice of the probate or the hearing to open her daughter's Estate. (Cosgrove Affidavit Ex. 10 ¶ 11.)

In October, Cosgrove met with Sunny Rae Yocom (hereinafter Yocom) a professional Social Security payee, who had never acted as a personal representative (PR) before, to prepare and file legal documents to open a probate for Mykhia's Estate. The documents were filed on October 21, 2020, (Dkt #3), and a hearing was set for November 23, 2020. (Ex. 10, Cosgrove Affidavit ¶ 12, Dkt #4) (Trans. 197:9- 198:21)

¹ All references to exhibits are from the May 23, 2023, evidentiary hearing before Judge John Brown.

Because Yocom was a stranger to the Estate and acting as a private fiduciary, she did not have priority for appointment as PR under MCA § 72-3-507. Yocom claimed that she was acting in the capacity of a Public Administrator, but as the Court noted at the evidentiary hearing, the Gallatin County Public Administrator at that time was Jennifer Brandon, the duly elected Clerk of Court. Yocom admits she has no documents authorizing her to act as a Public Administrator. (Pg.186-187)

Because Yocom did not have any priority to be appointed PR, the provisions of MCA § 72-3-507 governing the appointment of one not having priority apply.

The Order setting the November 23, 2020, hearing was issued on October 23, 2020. (Dkt #4) Statutes require that before a formal proceedings hearing required by MCA § 72-3-507 are held, "Proof of the giving of notice must be made on or before the hearing and filed in the proceeding" (MCA § 72-1-301) No such proof was ever filed with the Court, and Yocom's testimony confirms Cole was never given notice of the hearing. (Trans.194:3, 197:9-23, 198:16-21)

It is undisputed from Cosgrove's affidavit, (Ex. 10) that the only time he ever spoke with Cole was June 1, 2020. At that time, Cosgrove had not even met with Yocom and could not have given Cole notice of a hearing that was not set until October 23, 2020, approximately <u>five-months later</u>.

It is clear Yocom and/or Cosgrove mis-represented to the Court that Cole had been provided notice of the November 23, 2020, hearing thus denying Cole her right to due process. (See 11.23.2020 Hearing Trans.)

Yocom received the insurance settlement check from Cosgrove on December 7, 2020. Over four months later she finally deposited the \$100,000 check into the Estate account on April 15, 2021. After receiving these funds, the personal representative made no meaningful attempt to contact Cole. Yocom did, however, have numerous contacts with Cole's son, Mythias Cole because she was his court appointed conservator, creating a serious conflict of interest for Yocom.

On December 13, 2021, over a year after she had been appointed as personal representative of the Estate, and Conservator for Mythias Cole, Yocum filed a petition for approval to bar Cole from inheriting from her daughter's Estate. (Dkt. #12) At the same time the petition was filed, Yocom was representing Mythias Cole as his conservator, meaning if Cole were disinherited, Mythias would then be the beneficiary of the Estate. To make matters worse, the Estate attorney Danielle Shyne (hereinafter Shyne) was also representing Mythias Cole in an emancipation proceeding. Both attorney Shyne and Yocom have conflicts of interest and should have been removed from their duties administering the Estate once they filed the petition to disinherit Cole.

Respondent emphatically denies all the allegations made against her by the PR, a person Plaintiff has never met. The allegations that Cole intended to terminate her parental relationship with her daughter are unsupported, false and just cruel in light of the death of her two daughters. There is no legal precedent for what the Petitioner is attempting to do by terminating the Respondents parental rights following the death of her two daughters under MCA § 72-2-125.

Cole's counsel finds no case where parental rights have been deemed terminated or parent has been barred from inheriting except in circumstances where DPHHS was previously involved. Indeed, the case of **In re J.B.**, 2016 MT 68, 383 Mont. 48, 368 P.3d 715 requires that DPHHS has been unsuccessful in reuniting parent and child before parental rights can be terminated.

Yocom has not produced any evidence which would support her efforts to terminate Cole's parental rights. The Petitioner's allegations of abandonment are unsupported. Under the intestacy statutes in Montana, Mykhia's mother Lisa Cole is the sole beneficiary of her estate. Yocom was influenced by her representation of Mythias Cole who stands to inherit if Cole's parental rights are deemed terminated by this Court.

At the hearing, Yocom made the following statements showing her bias in favor of Lisa Cole's children:

Yocom testified, "I asked Danielle [Shyne] what the law would allow me to do, and she counseled me saying that we could go about this by disinheriting her (Cole) and then making sure that the remaining siblings would have an equal share of the Trust." (Pg. 208:20-24)

When asked whether she takes into consideration people who are not beneficiaries of the estate when making decisions, Yocom answered, "I guess I see them [Lisa Cole's children] all as beneficiaries of the estate, not just the mother." (Pg. 209:3-4)

When asked why she filed the petition to disinherit Cole Yocom testified; "Based on the information I had at the time, I thought Mom had other ongoing issues, would not appear, the costs would be minimal, and we would **maintain maximum value for Ms. Cole's children.**" (Pg. 212:7-11)

When asked, "Throughout this proceeding you have been advocating for the children, who are really strangers to the estate; isn't that right?" Yocom responded, "I don't feel that they are strangers to the estate." (Pg. 214:13-17)

Yocum also advocated for Cole's children at the settlement conference (See Appendix C)

In Montana, parental rights are a fundamental right, and cannot be terminated without substantive due process. MCA § 41-3-609

"A parent's right to the care and custody of a child constitutes a fundamental liberty interest that must be protected by fundamentally fair procedures. **In re**

D.B. and **D.B.**, 2007 MT 246, ¶ 17, 339 Mont. 240, ¶ 17, 168 P.3d 691, ¶ 17. Proceedings to terminate parental rights must meet due process requisites guaranteed by the Montana and United States Constitutions. **In re A.N.W.**, 2006 MT 42, ¶ 34, 331 Mont. 208, ¶ 34, 130 P.3d 619, ¶ 34. *Fundamental fairness and due process require that a parent not be placed at an unfair disadvantage during the termination proceedings. In re A.N.W., ¶ 34."In re Custody and Parental Rights of A.P., 2007 MT 297, 172 P.3d 105, 340 Mont. 39 (Mont. 2007)*

There is only one way to terminate parental rights in Montana.

Under § 41-3-609(1)(f), MCA, a court may terminate parental rights upon a finding, established by clear and convincing evidence, that the child is an adjudicated youth in need of care and <u>both</u> of the following exist:

- (i) an appropriate treatment plan that has been approved by the court has not been complied with by the parents or has not been successful; and
- (ii) the conduct or condition of the parents rendering them unfit is unlikely to change within a reasonable time. **In re J.B.**, 2016 MT 68, 383 Mont. 48, 368 P.3d 715.

Lisa Cole had a specific agreement with her daughter, Samara Yanny, that she would take care of Mykhia for a short period of time until Cole had recovered from her surgery and at that time Mykhia would rejoin her. Yocom has not produced any evidence or testimony to dispute this fact. Because Samara Yanny died in the same car crash as Mykhia, the only credible testimony regarding this short-term living arrangement is Cole. There is no admissible testimony that Cole had abandoned her daughter. Mykhia's sister, Sierra, testified: "I do know that their goal collectively amongst them(Cole and Samara) was to try to establish who would be the best person to take care of Mykhia and at that time it was my sister". (Trans 143:21)

Because the Yocom did not meet the requirements of MCA § 41-3-609 1(f) to show that Mykhia was adjudicated as a youth in need of care Cole's parental rights could not have terminated under Montana Law.

Unfortunately, Cole does not have a good relationship with her seven children, two of which are now deceased. It is also clear the allegations made by the PR in her Petition originated with some of those children who seek to be beneficiaries of their sister's Estate. The PR has an obligation to represent the Estate, not these other siblings. The fact that the PR is suing her own client, i.e., Cole who is the beneficiary under well-established Montana probate law, is highly unusual and motivated by outside individuals, who are not her client.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

- 1. In the summer of 2019, Cole, Mykhia and Mythias were living in Colorado with their mother Lisa Cole when she began having medical issues resulting in a hysterectomy (Transcript Pg. 143:25-Pg.144:10)
- On or about September 2019 their brother, Phoenix Nivens, picked Mythias and Mykhia up and transported them to Bozeman, Montana. This was done with Cole's consent. (Transcript, Pg. 157:11-13)
- 3. Mykhia's brother and sister, Sierra and Mathias, testified that Cole had weekly phone conversations with her daughter Mykhia. Sierra Yanny and Mythias Cole both

- testified that her mother did try to make sure that contact between Cole and Mykhia was maintained. (Pg. 160:6-8) (Pg.142:17-25) (Pg. 160 Ln. 2-8)
- 4. Jennifer Hoerauf is a Regional Administrator for Montana Child and Family Services (DPHHS). Jennifer testified that during interviews, Lisa Cole told the interviewer that she had a hysterectomy in September and had allowed [SIS] Samara to take the children since then. "BM indicates she wants the children back, but [SIS] is refusing to tell BM where she lives." (Pg. 55:23 Pg. 56:3)
- 5. In November 2019, Lisa Cole contacted DPHHS, and informed them she was in the process of trying to get Mykhia back to live with her and that her daughter refused to give Lisa Cole the location of where they were living.² "birth mother reported that she had had a hysterectomy in September and allowed sister take care of children since then. Birth mother indicates she wants the children back, but sis is refusing to tell birth mother where she lives." (Hoerauf 55:23 Pg. 56:3).
- 6. Lisa Cole repeatedly contacted DPHHS requesting assistance in getting her child back. Lisa Cole wanted Mykhia to live with her again. "Birth mother would now like to resume parenting, but adult sibling will not return the children or notify birthmother where they are residing." (Hoerauf Pg. 62:16-19).
- 7. Under Montana statute MCA § 20-5-501, while Mykhia was living with her sister, Samara had the right to consent to educational services and to medical care for

² Citation to Exhibit 3

- Mykhia without superseding any parental rights regarding the child. Samara was, at that time a "caretaker/relative", as defined by (MCA § 20-5-501(4)(a)).
- 8. In Montana, parental rights may only be terminated by the Court finding parental unfitness, including abandonment, abuse and/or neglect of the child. Parental termination hearings must be brought by Montana DPHHS or Child Protective Services. (MCA § 41-3-609) The process often takes years. (Hoerauf Pg. 85:18 Pg. 86:21)
- An investigation into Mykhia's living arrangements by DPHHS did not meet the threshold for further investigation or meet the definition of abuse and neglect.
 (Hoerauf, Pg. 57:21 Pg. 58:3 and, Pg. 60:1-3, Pg. 62:16-17, Pg. 81:17-21, Pg. 90:6-7)
- 10. On numerous occasions, Cole expressed her intent to have Mykhia return to living with her after her medical issues had been resolved. (See Exhibit 3, Notes from various interviewers.)
- 11. MCA § 20-5-501 recognizes a growing phenomenon in which absent, or otherwise available parents have temporarily surrendered the custody and care of their children to a grandparent or other relative for lengthy periods of time. The statute gives these caretakers the power to perform routine functions, including tending to educational and educationally related medical needs of the child. The statute is not intended to affect the rights and responsibilities of the parent... (MCA § 20-5-501)

- 12. On November 5, 2019, Cole told Cassandra Salway from Child Protective Services that she owned a home in Hingham, Montana and told Samara she would have Mythias and Mykhia back in her care by Christmas. (Exhibit 3, Pg. 1)
- 13. Mykhia's sister Sierra was asked; "Do you have any information, or you don't know about what arrangements your mother and your sister[Samara] had about Mykhia's care of getting her back with your mom or anything like that then? She replied, "I do know that their goal collectively amongst them was to try to establish would be the best person to take care of Mykhia and at that time it was my sister." (Trans. Pg 143 Ln. 16)
- 14. No abuse or neglect proceeding, or any other type of proceeding was ever initiated against Cole which could have resulted in termination of her parental rights especially immediately before Mykhia's death. (Hoerauf 81:7-8)
- 15. Mike Van Vuren is the assistant deputy superintendent of Bozeman Public Schools, and was previously the Principal at Hyalite Elementary, the school Mykhia attended. (Trans. 36:3-10)
- 16. Van Vuren testified that Mykhia was classified as an "unaccompanied youth" which allowed her older sister to register her for school, this occurs when they are not living with their custodial parent. It is not uncommon for a school district to have multiple students identified as "unaccompanied youth." (Pg. 42-43) Mr. Van Vuren

- viewed Cole as Mykhia's custodial parent, even though she was living with her sister Samara at the time. (45:20-46)
- 17. There is no evidence that Cole refused to become involved in the Estate as the District Court's Findings and Conclusions state. (Cosgrove affidavit Ex.10, pg. 2 ¶5 & Pg.3 ¶10.)
- 18. There is no evidence that Yocom was appointed as a stand in Public Administrator. (Pgs. 12-16, and Pgs. 185-195.)
- 19. Cole was not served with a subpoena to appear at the May 23, 2023, evidentiary hearing. No acknowledgement or affidavit of service for any subpoena to Lisa Cole were ever filed with the District Court.³
- 20. Lisa Cole's attorney Christopher W. Froines first started representing her on January 27, 2022, she was not represented at the time of the hearing to appoint Yocom as PR on November 23, 2020. (Dkt #21)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Jennifer Hoerauf is the Regional Administrator for Child and Family Services in Montana. She was questioned at the evidentiary hearing on May 23, 2023, regarding the possibility of Lisa Cole's parental rights being terminated immediately prior to Mykhia's death. She testified;

³ Although the Court says that Cole was served a subpoena for the hearing via email in its Findings and Conclusions (FF#9), the Court did not rule on Yocom's Motion for Sanctions asking the Court to find the service of the subpoena by email to Cole's counsel was effective. (Dkt. #89)

Q.(By Walter Clapp) That's fine. And if a parent was homeless and doing drugs, and abandoned their kids in a foreign state or let's say in state, and a report was received, and the kids were just living on the street, could CPS then do an investigation and terminate potential -- parental rights potentially?

MR. FROINES: Objection. Calls for speculation. THE COURT: I'll overrule. She can answer if she can.

THE WITNESS: So I think that's a more complex question than what is being asked. If all those circumstances were there, and we investigated, and we determined that the children were living on the streets and were unsafe, we would then follow --we would then initiate a what we call a dependent/neglect action. We would have to have a show cause. We would have to have an adjudication in front of a district court judge to make that determination to support that. We would then offer parents treatment plans and services in order to work toward reunification. If all those efforts failed during the duration of time and at a period of, I mean, some of our cases go on for four years. It's difficult to say that we would meet the level of termination. We would not be able to terminate parental rights just on the onset of the case. It's usually a long process that takes several months to years to make a determination to file for termination. (Hearing transcript Pg.84-Pg.86 Ln.5) (Emphasis added)

This statement from the regional director of the agency charged with protecting children in Montana makes it clear that even if all the allegation the PR has made against Lisa Cole were true, her parental rights could not have been terminated immediately preceding Mykhia Cole's death.

Based on the statements of the regional administrator for child and family services, there is no evidence that any state agency would ever have filed a petition to terminate Cole's parental rights, and absent such a petition, the District Court had no authority to find that Cole's parental right could have been terminated

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