#### 08/16/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0230

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

## Supreme Court Cause No. DA 24-0230

#### LISA COLE

Appellant,

v.

#### IN RE THE ESTATE OF M.A.C.

#### A Deceased Minor

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court

Cause No. DP-20-137C

Hon. John Brown, Presiding

#### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

#### Appearances:

Danielle Shyne Shyne Law Group, PLLC PO Box 973 Bozeman, MT 59771 Telephone: (406) 581-5479 danielle@shynelawgroup.com Attorney for Appellee

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

Section -125(1)(b) clarifies the standard for this case: "A parent **is barred** from inheriting from or through a child of the parent if: the child died before reaching 18 years of age and there is clear and convincing evidence that immediately before the child's death the parental rights of the parent **could have been** terminated under law of this state other than this code on the basis of nonsupport, abandonment, abuse, neglect, or other actions or inactions of the parent toward the child."

"Is Barred" is not permissive. Yocom learned facts from M.A.C.'s surviving siblings, and had no choice but to either disinherit Cole without seeking a hearing, or asking the District Court for supervision, guidance, and permission. Yocum chose the latter.

The verified petition seeking permission to disinherit Cole does not state that Cole's rights were terminated, but said rights could have been. If Cole's other siblings did not come rescue M.A.C. and her brother, the state may very well have been forced to intervene. The transcript of this case makes clear and convincing the facts unearthed in our investigation and introduced at trial. The District Court, after a day of hearing testimony from eight (8) witnesses, including three (3) of Cole's children, a Department worker, and three (3) school and counseling officials, has

given Yocum permission to proceed.

The District Court had to find against because Cole had filed no verified pleading in this matter as required by § 72-1-310, MCA. Moreover, "[d]espite a Subpoena being served upon Cole to appear in person at the hearing, she failed to appear for the hearing." (*FoF*, *CoL*, *Order*, *p*. 2, ¶ 9). Cole presented no witnesses on her behalf at the hearing.

This appeal may be considered frivolous because of the conflicting positions taken by Cole throughout this matter, the waste of her children's inheritance, and the lack of support for her claims on appeal. *See Federated Mut. Ins. Co. v. Anderson* 1996 277 Mont. 134, 136, 920 P.2d 97, 53 Mont. St. Rep. 618.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Issue 1: Cole failed to present any verified pleadings or evidence disputing the evidence presented by the Personal Representative.

Cole did not submit a verified pleading in this matter. (*Fof, Col, Order, p. 2,* ¶ 7). Petitions and responses to petitions must be verified. *Id.* (*p. 10,* ¶ 22), citing § 72-1-310(1)(b), MCA and § 72-1-310(2)(b), MCA. In Montana, a motion "not made or based on any pleadings, papers, matters or things on file in the cause, nor supported by any affidavit or verified pleading" raises no issues of fact and must be "necessarily denied." *State ex rel. State Highway Comm'n v. Dist. Court of Fourth Judicial Dist. In and for Mineral County* (1963), 142 Mont. 198, 383 P.2d 481. *See* 

also *Franks v. Eleventh Judicial Dist. Court*, 2020 MT 2606, 402 Mont. 429, 477 P.3d 279 (holding "Franks has filed an unverified petition, in contradiction to § 27-26-201, MCA, and he has not presented a clear legal duty for the District Court to act.").

Cole failed to appear at the hearing, despite a subpoena being served upon Cole to appear in person. (Fof, Col, Order, p. 2,  $\P$  9). Cole refused to appear and testify or verify her motions. (Fof, Col, Order, p. 11,  $\P$  31). Cole presented no witnesses. Cole's appeal must be denied based upon her failure to verify her pleadings or appear as ordered. She has failed to establish standing or any other facts necessary to plead her case. The District Court correctly denied her various motions and this appeal is without merit.

# Issue 2: Cole's parental rights could have been terminated without the State initiating a child-welfare action.

Cole asserts that her parental rights could not have been terminated without State initiation of a child welfare action. (Appellant Brief p. 18,  $\P$  1). This assertion is legally and factually incorrect. Parental rights can be terminated without State intervention. Termination occurs in adoptions, relinquishments, the child being a result of sexual assault, or a child being assaulted. See § 42-2-401, MCA, et. al (adoption); § 40-6-1001, MCA, et. al. (termination based on sexual abuse).

Sections 72-1-124 & -125, MCA, should be read together. These statutes are

the basis of this case and do not require the State to have initiated a child-welfare action for their application. Section 72-2-124(3), MCA states "Inheritance from or through a child by either natural parent or the parent's kindred **is precluded** unless that natural parent has openly treated the child as the parents and has not refused to support the child." (Emphasis Added.) The statute is not permissive. Section 72-2-125, MCA clarifies the circumstances of preclusion:

Parent barred from inheriting in certain circumstances.

- (1) A parent is barred from inheriting from or through a child of the parent if:
- (a) the parent's parental rights were terminated and the parent-child relationship was not judicially reestablished; **or**
- (b) the child died before reaching 18 years of age and there is clear and convincing evidence that immediately before the child's death the parental rights of the parent **could have been** terminated under law of this state other than this code on the basis of nonsupport, abandonment, abuse, neglect, or other actions or inactions of the parent toward the child.
- (2) For the purpose of intestate succession from or through the deceased child, a parent who is barred from inheriting under this section is treated as if the parent predeceased the child.

§ 72-2-125, MCA, (emphasis added). The state could have initiated an action or clear and convincing evidence can be presented in probate of "nonsupport, abandonment, abuse, neglect, or other actions or inactions of the parent toward the child." *Id*.

Cole argues her parental rights could not have been terminated under 72-1-124 and -125, MCA, based on the testimony of Montana Department of Health and Human Services supervisor, Ms. Hoerauf. Cole cites to Ms. Hoerauf's statement

"there is no evidence that any agency would ever have filed a petition to terminated Cole's parental rights and absent such a petition, the District Court had no authority to find that Cole's parental right could have been terminated." (*Appellant Brief p.* 14). This is a misrepresentation of the witness's testimony.

Ms. Hoerauf testified "we would not be able to terminate parental rights of a parent without filing what we call a dependent/neglect action, and in none of these cases did it meet the criteria because we did not investigate the birth mother's home. So, I feel it really hard to say that it would qualify or not qualify because our assessment was to determine if Samara's home was safe." (*Hearing Transcript p.* 80,  $\P6-14$ ).

Ms. Hoerauf testified that the most recent CPS report involved Cole alleging that M.A.C. was unsafe in her current living situation with Samara. (*Hearing Transcript p. 80*, ¶6-14). The Department determined that M.A.C. was safe with her older sister Samara and inquired no further. (*Hearing Transcript p. 88*, ¶ 17-19). Cole's argument that Ms. Hoerauf's testimony supports her assertion that her parental rights could not have been terminated misleads the Court.

The fact no State action was pending immediately prior to M.A.C.'s death does not preclude that Cole's parental rights could have been terminated. Cole's parental rights could have been terminated immediately prior to M.A.C.'s death. This was proven in District Court by clear and convincing evidence according to the

District Court's discretion to weigh the evidence, which is again before this Court for review. Cole's parental rights could have been terminated based on her abandonment and neglect of M.A.C. (*FoF*, *CoL*, *Order*, *p.* 10-11, ¶27). The District Court's Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law are correct.

# Issue 3: The District Court did not err when it appointed Sunny Rae Yocom as Personal representative.

Cole asserts that she was deprived of her constitutional due process rights when the District Court appointed Yocom as Personal Representative. Cole waived those rights when she did not appear for the evidentiary hearing in this matter, and failed to request a subsequent evidentiary hearing offered by the District Court in this matter.

Cole asserts because she was not provided notice of the hearing on the Petition to Appoint Yocom as Personal Representative, that the District Court erred and therefore all of Yocom's actions are void.

The affidavit of Cosgrove, entered at Petitioner's Exhibit 10, offered in lieu of Cosgrove's testimony, shows notices given to Cole. Eventually face-to-face, which revealed Cole's visible intoxication. *See Hearing Transcript p. 242-243*. Excerpts from Exhibit 10 follow:

8

12 13 14

16

17

18

19 20

21

23

25

24

3. From the beginning of my involvement in the matter, my only adult family contact for M.A.C. was her adult sister, Sierra Yanny. Upon information and belief, Sierra cared for and was raising, due to the absence of the mother, Lisa Nivens, (N/K/A)Lisa Cole, both minor aged siblings, M.A.C. and brother Mythias J. Cole (a minor, now an emancipated adult).

- 4. I understood, from my conversations with Sierra about needing to contact her mother, on behalf of my client, related to conveying the insurance proceeds for the benefit of M.A.C's Estate and for Mythias, who was an injured passenger in the subject accident, that Lisa Cole was unavailable and uninvolved in parenting.
- 5. After efforts to obtain any possible contact information for Lisa Cole, Sierra gave me a possible phone number for Lisa Cole, 406-422-8353. I used the number to try to reach Lisa Cole, always to no avail.
- 6. On May 28, 2020, I was given Lisa Cole's mailing address as 41 Grenz Drive, Miles City, Montana. On May 29, 2020, I wrote to Lisa Cole at the suggested address. I introduced myself and explained my role in the subject accident and legal proceedings to occur in the future and the need for her to be aware and involved 22 for the benefit of her deceased minor aged daughter and injured son. (The letter is attached hereto).
  - 7. I never received a response from Lisa Cole to my letter.
- 8. On June 1, 2020, I tried to reach Lisa Cole by telephone on at least two occasions. She did not answer. I then drove to Miles City (actually about 12 miles north of Miles City) to see if 28 I could make contact with Lisa Cole.

Affidavit of Shawn P. Cosgrove

Page 2 of 6

- 9. It was mid-day. Lisa Cole was home. She answered the door. To my observation, Ms. Cole appeared either intoxicated with alcohol or drugged. Nevertheless, because I was finally in contact with her, I explained my role in regard to the accident. I explained the need for the appointment of a conservator for Mythias and a personal representative for M.A.C.'s estate. I explained there would need to be the filing of legal documents and participation at hearings. I explained I had written her and repeatedly tried to reach her by phone. I left with her my business card.
- 10. I never heard back from Lisa Cole. I was told she had moved from Miles City and that she was homeless on the east coast. It was clear to me she did not parent her children, nor wanted to be involved in the conservatorship or estate matter.
- 11. So, I contacted Jennifer Brandon, the Clerk of District Court. As the Clerk of District Court, she was the Public Administrator that could be utilized as the conservator and personal representative based on the circumstances as presented in the present matter. She advised that while she was the public administrator, her preference was not for herself to be personally involved, but she gave recommendations for a professional fiduciary that worked basically at her appointment as public administrator to become involved in the matter. She gave me several names of potential professional fiduciaries to act as the public administrator.
- 12. Sunny Rae Yocum, of All In Fiduciary Services, agreed to participate as conservator for then minor aged Mythias and as

  Affidavit of Shawn P. Cosgrove

  Page 3 of 6

Notice of a hearing in probate is required in formal probate proceedings. Section 72-3-302, MCA. A formal probate is litigation commenced to determine whether a decedent left a valid will. Section 72-3-302, MCA. In informal probate proceedings the moving party must give notice to those who demand it and to any person has prior or equal priority. Section 72-3-221, MCA. M.A.C. was a minor and did not have a will, thus the initial application for probate and appointment falls under the informal probate rules of Montana.

Cosgrove and Yocom were not required to provide further notice of the hearing to Cole under § 72-3-221, MCA.

Cole argues she had priority to act as Personal Representative. If Cole did have priority, the law only requires the district court to determine that those having priority, although given notice of the proceedings, have failed to request appointment or to nominate another for appointment. Section 72-3-507, MCA. As agreed to by Cole, Cosgrove met in person with Cole and informed her of the necessity of opening probate. (*Appellant Opening Brief, p.21*). Cosgrove went beyond the demand of the law and met with Cole in person to discuss the necessity of probate. (*Appellant Opening Brief, p. 21*). Cole refused to request appointment despite probate being required due to the insurance proceeds. She then mediated in bad faith, refused to honor a subpoena, and now appeals this matter to further waste the Court's time and Estate's funds.

Any notice error for the initial appointment is harmless. Cole had notice and opportunity to show up to the evidentiary hearing Cole requested on the matter of her abuses and abandonment, or a subsequent hearing, and she did not take advantage of that opportunity.

An error is harmless if it would have "no significant impact on the result." *In re J.C.*, 2008 MT 127, 343 Mont. 30, 183 P.3d 22; *In re A.N.*, 2000 MT 35, 298 Mont. 237, 995 P.2d 427 (quoting *Newbauer v. Hinebauch*, 1998 MT 115, ¶ 20, 288 Mont. 482, ¶ 20, 958 P.2d 705, ¶ 20). The rule is well established "that 'no civil case shall be reversed by reason of error which would have no significant impact upon the result; if there is no showing of substantial injustice, the error is harmless." *Id.* Even in criminal cases, "a cause may not be reversed by reason of any error committed by the trial court against the convicted person unless the record shows that the error was prejudicial." Section 46-20-701, MCA; *See State v. Warnick* (1985), 216 Mont. 102, 699 P.2d 1049.

Cole asserts that if she was given notice of the hearing she would have shown up and objected to the appointment of Personal Representative. (*Appellant Opening Brief*, p. 21). The evidence in the record does not support this contention.

Under the facts in evidence, Cole did not have priority to be appointed as the personal representative. The District Court determined that, as a matter of fact and law, that even if Cole had shown up, she would have been disqualified as unsuitable

pursuant to § 72-3-501(2), MCA. (*FoF, CoL, Order, p. 12, ¶ 32*). Section 72-3-502, MCA governs who has priority when appointing a personal representative. "Custodial parents" are third, public administrators are eighth on the priority list, and creditors of the estate (45 days after the decedent's death) are ninth. Section, 72-3-502(1)-(9), MCA.

Cole was not the "custodial parent" as Cole did not live with or support M.A.C. at the time of her death. Samara was the "custodial parent" according to the Social Security Administration and M.A.C.'s school, representatives of both testified at the hearing.

Yocom's verified Application for Informal Appointment of Personal Representative in Intestacy states "Applicant is a professional fiduciary acting in place of the Public Administrator." (Application, ¶8). The insurance company was a creditor of the Estate as they held an asset of the Estate. More than 45 days had elapsed between M.A.C. passing away and when a Personal Representative was appointed as a public administrator. Even if Cole appeared at the hearing and objected to Personal Representative's appointment, Cole would not have been appointed as personal representative as she did not have priority to act as such. The District Court did not err when it appointed Yocom as Personal Representative. If any error was committed, it was harmless.

### **Issue 4: The District Court's findings of facts were not clearly erroneous.**

Cole asserts that the District Court erred in its findings of facts. Cole has failed to show any occasion where the District Court's findings of fact were clearly erroneous and instead has listed a number of small issues irrelevant to the District Court's final order.

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